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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Plaintiff Anucha Browne Sanders ("Browne Sanders" or "plaintiff™) brings this
action against defendants Madison Square Garden, L.P. ("MSG"), Isiah Lord Thomas III
("Thomas") and James L. Dolan ("Dolan") to remedy gender discrimination, including sexual
harassment, and to remedy retaliation for engaging in protected activities, in violation of Title
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.; the New York State Executive
Law § 290 et seq. ("Executive Law"); and the Administrative Code of the City of New York §
8-101 et seq. ("City Code"). Plaintiff submits this Memorandum of Law in opposition to
Thomas' motion for partial summary judgment on plaintiff's claim of retaliation and her demand
for reputational damages.

For many years, Browne Sanders was a highly successful female executive in the
world of professional sports. Based on her hard work, skills and experience, she rose to a level
that very few women have ever achieved: head of business operations for a National Basketball
Association ("NBA") franchise. Browne Sanders' career proceeded without disruption until her
employer, MSG, hired Thomas to lead its basketball operations. Soon thereafter, Thomas
began to sexually harass Browne Sanders and made it difficult for her to do her job. Because
MSG failed to remedy this situation in response to her many internal complaints, and because
the problems that she experienced with Thomas and other male employees were getting worse,
not better, she retained counsel to complain to MSG on her behalf. This led to almost
immediate retaliation. Within a month, Browne Sanders was summarily dismissed.

While Thomas professes to have had no role in Browne Sanders' firing, the
evidence shows otherwise. In response to Browne Sanders' complaints about harassment,
Thomas provided MSG with a false tale of how Browne Sanders purportedly tried to act as his

boss and how she wanted to make decisions within basketball operations. According to
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Thomas, he and Browne Sanders "butted heads" because he wanted complete control of the
players, something that Browne Sanders could allegedly not abide. Sure enough, after MSG
fired Browne Sanders, it originally claimed that her firing was due in large part to her alleged
inability to work well with Thomas and to accept his organizational changes. Based on this -
evidence, a reasonable jury could find that Thomas aided and abetted MSG's retaliatory conduct
by intentionally providing MSG with a pretext for Browne Sanders' firing. Furthermore, there
is sufficient evidence for a jury to find that as a result of Thomas' conduct, Browne Sanders has
suffered substantial damage to her reputation and her ability to earn a living now and in the
future. Accordingly, Thomas' motion for partial summary judgment should be denied.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Browne Sanders' Employment With MSG

Browne Sanders began her employment with MSG in November 2000 as the Vice
-‘ | President of Marketing for the New York Knickerbockers ("Knicks"), an NBA franchise owned
by MSG. Browne Sanders was hired by Stephen Mills ("Mills"), who was then the Executive
Vice President for Franchise Operations for MSG. As Vice President of Marketing, Browne
Sanders reported to Mills. (Plaintiff's Statement of Material Facts Pursuant to Local Civil Rule
56.1 ("PL. 56.1") 4 45).

On or about March 11, 2002, MSG promoted Browne Sanders to the position of
Senior Vice President ("SVP"), Marketing & Business Operations of the New York Knicks. In
this new role, plaintiff continued to report to Mills, who at that point had been promoted and held
the position of President, MSG Sports Team Operations. As SVP of Marketing and Business
Operations, Browne Sanders also had a "dotted line" reporting relationship to Scott Layden

("Layden"), who was then the President of Basketball Operations for the Knicks. Browne
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Sanders was responsible for keeping Layden informed about the important business
developments related to the team. (Pl. 56.1 47)

Both before and after Browne Sanders' promotion to SVP, she received
outstanding performance evaluations, as well as significant bonuses and raises. (Pl. 56.1 99 5,
19, 46, 48-51) Furthermore, during the course of her employment with MSG, she received many
professional and personal honors, including being named by the Sports Business Journal as one
of the top 40 professionals under 40 years old in the sports field. (Pl. 56.1 952)

Thomas Is Hired By MSG

On or about December 22, 2003, ‘MSG hired Thomas as the President of
Basketball Operations for the Knicks. Before joining the Knicks, Thomas was a hall-of-fame
basketball player, an executive and coach. When Thomas joined MSG, he was given a multi-
year contract until July 2007 and became part of MSG's Office of the Chairman, a five member
group of MSG's most senior managers led by MSG Chairman James Dolan ("Dolan"). Browne
Sanders continued to have the same dotted line reporting relationship to Thomas that she had to
Layden. (P1. 56.1 4 53)

Beginning in early 2004, Thomas began sexually harassing Browne Sanders by,
among other things, referring to her by demeaning and sexist epithets, such as "bitch" and "ho,"
as well as cursing at her in their private conversations. Browne Sanders complained to Mills on
multiple occasions about Thomas' conduct, and she also told Thomas that he should-act like a
professional and to treat her with respect. (Pl. 56.1 § 54) After Browne Sanders complained
about Thomas' behavior, Thomas told Mills that he wanted plaintiff fired. Thomas also
complained about plaintiff's performance to another executive in the organization. (PL. 56.1 4

55)
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In or about the early part of 2005, Mills completed a performance appraisal for
Browne Sanders for the calendar year 2004. In that document, Mills assigned Browne Sanders
an overall performance rating of 4 on a scale of 1 to 3, denoting that plaintiff's overall
performance for 2004 "exceeded expected performance.” Mills also wrote in that review that
"Anucha effectively managed through the organizational and philosophical changes when Isiah
Thomas was hired." (Pl. 56.1 § 51) In or about February 2005, MSG awarded Browne Sanders
- a bonus of $76,000. - In April 2005, MSG raised Browne Sanders' annual-base salary from
approximately $213,000 to $250,000, an increase of over 17%. (PL. 56.1919)

Browne Sanders Complains Of Discrimination Through Counsel

Beginning in late December 2004 and continuing throughout 2005, Thomas'
treatment of Browne Sanders changed. Instead of cursing at Browne Sanders and treating her
with hostility, Thomas began to profess his love for her, to make sexual advances toward her,
and to make comments about her physical appearance such as telling her -that she was
"beautiful," "attractive" and "easy on the eyes." (Pl. 56.1 956) Based on, among other things,
Thomas' continual sexual harassment and the inappropriate conduct of Knicks player Stephon
Marbury, who had repeatedly referred to Browne Sanders as a "black bitch," (PL. 56.1 9§ 57),
Browne Sanders retained counsel to complain to MSG on her behalf,

On December 22, 2005, counsel for Browne Sanders met with counsel for MSG.
At that meeting, Browne Sanders' attorneys stated, among other things, that Browne Sanders had -
been subjected to sexual harassment at MSG and provided MSG's counsel with information
concerning Browne Sanders' claims. (Pl. 56.1 § 58) Shortly after the December 22, 2005
meeting between plaintiff's counsel and MSG's counsel, MSG began an internal investigation of

plaintiff's sexual harassment complaint. MSG's internal investigation was conducted by, among
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others, Rochelle Noel ("Noel"), an in-house attorney for Cablevision, MSG's parent company,
and MSG Vice President of Employee Relations John Moran ("Moran"). (Pl. 56.1 9159
Moran and Noel interviewed plaintiff on January 6, 2006, at which time Browne

Sanders provided substantial detail about her sexual harassment complaint. (Pl 56.1. 9 60)

Moran and Noel also interviewed Thomas on December 23, 2005 and January 11, 2006, during .-

which Thomas falsely denied most of Browne Sanders' allegations. In those interviews Thomas
also volunteered numerous criticisms about Browne Sanders' performance. Among other things,
Thomas falsely stated that he and Browne Sanders "butted heads” because Thomas "wanted
complete control of players time and responsibilities,". which Browne Sanders resisted; that
Browne Sanders "wanted to be making decisions in basketball operations," rather than running
her own department; and that Browne Sanders had acted as if she were Thomas' boss.- (P1.56.1
19 15, 61)

MSG Concludes Its Investigation Of Browne Sanders' Harassment Complaint And She Is Fired

On or about January 13, 2006, Noel and Moran finalized the findings of MSG's .
" internal investigation in .a document entitled, Summary of Harassment ‘Investigation
("Investigation Summary"). (PL. 56.1 § 14) Approximately six days later, on January 19, 2006, -
Marc Schoenfeld ("Schoenfeld"), then MSG's Acting General Counsel, drafted a memorandum
for Rusty McCormack ("McCormack"), MSG's Senior Vice President of Human Resources,
entitled "Knicks Employee Relations Issues." (Id.) The memorandum purports to make
recommendations in light of the Investigation Summary, including a recomméndation that
Browne Sanders should be fired. The memorandum also reiterated Thomas' false charge that.
Thomas and Browne Sanders had a "number of business disagreements and differences in

philosophy and management style." (Pl. 56.1 §§ 15, 17, 41, 61) On the same date of the
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memorandum, January 19, 2006, MSG's counsel informed plaintiff's counsel that MSG was
terminating Browne Sanders' employment, effective immediately. (Pl. 56.1 718):

On January 24, 2006, plaintiff filed this action. That same day, lawyers for
Thomas and MSG- made statements to the press on behalf of their respective clients. MSG
~claimed that plaintiff's claim -was "fabricated and outrageous" and that Browne Sanders was
"fired because of an inability to fulfill her professional responsibilities." Thomas' lawyers stated
that plaintiff's claims were "a blatant attempt by. Anucha Browne Sanders to get a large sum of
money from Madison Square Garden by taking advantage of the celebrity status of our client.”
Plaintiff responded to these smears in a statement that she read at a press conference on J anuary
25,2006. That'same day, Thomas held a press conference in which he falsely denied plaintiff's
claims and asserted that Browne Sanders was trying to use him as a "pawn" for her "financial

"

gain." Two days later, Thomas held another press conference, in which he again falsely denied
Browne Sanders' claims. (Pl. 56.1 1[62)
In February 2006, Browne Sanders filed a charge of discrimination with the U.S.
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") against MSG based on the same events
“described in her original Complaint, including her claims that she was sexually harassed and that
she was fired for engaging in protected activity. In April 2006, MSG submitted a Position
Statement to the EEOC concerning Browne Sanders' charge. In its Position Statement, MSG
represented that Browne Sanders "refused to accept and adapt to changes in procedure after Isiah
Thomas joined the Knicks in December 2003 as President, Basketball Operations." According to
MSG, Browne Sanders was fired, at least in part, because she refused "to adapt to the changes

—

instituted by Thomas." (Pl. 56.1 § 64)
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On or about July 14, 2006, plaintiff amended her Complaint in this action and
added-a claim against Thomas for aiding and abetting MSG's retaliatory- decision to fire her.
Thereafter, MSG changed its position about why Browne Sanders was discharged. At his
-deposition in December 2005, Dolan claimed that he made the decision to fire Browne Sanders
from MSG, and he did so on his own, without consulting anyone else. (Pl. 56.1 9 37, 67)
Dolan's stated reasons for firing Browne Sanders are now, among other things, that Browne
Sanders purportedly requested six million dollars in severance and that she allegedly violated
MSG's policies by tampering with the internal investigation of her sexual harassment complaint.
(PL. 56.1 §67) In fact, Browne Sanders never made a-"severance.demand" to MSG. -Rather, her
counsel and MSG's counsel attempted to settle her claims of sexual harassment. Furthermore,
Browne Sanders did nothing to "tamper" with MSG's investigation; she simply sought to-gather
evidence in support of her claims, as was her right under the anti-discrimination laws. (PL.56.19
68)

Following Browne Sanders' unlawful dismissal and the negative public comments
- that'defendants made about her, her career prospects and earning capacity have been damaged.
Although Browne Sanders has applied for jobs with hundreds of potential employers in a wide
variety of businesses, she is presently working as an independent contractor for a non-profit
organization. Her annual compensation is less than half of what she had earned-at MSG. (PL
56.1 9 69) Moreover, Browne Sanders has repeatedly been asked about the circumstances of her
dismissal from MSG by prospective employers and executive recruiters, some of whom have
specifically referenced her dismissal from MSG in the context of discussing potential jobs that

she ultimately was not offered. (Id.)
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